
 

 
 

  
 
 

Customers and Corporate 
Directorate 
DDaavviidd  WWiillccoocckk  

HHeeaadd  ooff  LLeeggaall  aanndd  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  RReeffoorrmm  
Governance  & Committee Services 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Phone: 01706 647474 
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway 
Telephone:  01706 924716 
Date: Tuesday, 5 May 2015 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee to be held in Hollingworth - Floor 1, Number One Riverside, Rochdale, 
OL16 1XU on Wednesday, 13 May 2015 commencing at 6.15 pm. The agenda 
and supporting papers are attached. 
 
There will be a site visit at 4.30pm, meeting at the back entrance to Number One       
Riverside at 4.10pm.   
 
If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  
 
Yours faithfully 

 
 

David Wilcock 
Head of Legal and Governance Reform 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee Membership 2014/15 
Councillor Shakil Ahmed 
Councillor Andy Bell 
Councillor Surinder Biant 
Councillor Susan Emmott 
Councillor John Hartley 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill 
Councillor Peter Rush 
Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Ann Stott JP 
Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor June West 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

 
 

Rochdale Borough Council 
 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 13 May 2015 at 6.15 pm 
 

Hollingworth - Floor 1, Number One Riverside, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Apologies for Absence 

1. Declarations of Interest  1 - 3 

 Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.   
 
Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct. 

 

2. Minutes   

3. Planning Application  4 - 39 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25
TH

 JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 

PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS). 

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE 

MEETING AND DATE 

 

……………………………. 

 

Agenda item 

Indicate either 

• Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR 

• Personal Interest OR 

• Personal and Prejudicial interest 

Nature of Interest 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 

LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE. 

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING 

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain 
 

Sponsorship 
 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.   

Contracts 
 

Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council -  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 

Licences 
 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer. 

Corporate Tenancies 
 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) -  
(a) the landlord is the Council: and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and 
(b) either – 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
Personal Interests 
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect -  
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority; 
(b)  any body - 

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature; 
(ii)  directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union),  
of which you are in a position of general control or management; 
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25. 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would  reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business - 
(a)  Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or 
 (b)  Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above. 
 
 
MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE 
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25

TH
 JULY 2012. 

 Page 3



 
 

Subject:  Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication 

Report to:  Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  

Date:        13 May 2015 

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment 

Author: See individual agenda reports 

 
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 

related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 
and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 

approved Scheme of Delegation. 
 
1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 

matters which may affect the work of the Committee. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 

detailed in the following papers. 
 

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2011 and 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and Regulations which 
support that legislation.   

 
3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 
report. 

 
     The Development Plan 

 
3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 

against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 

Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 
and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 

Council.   
 
  

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 

requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 

material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 
other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report. 

 

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 
dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 

relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 
ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 

process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 
and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.   

 

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 
commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 

Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 
on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.   

 
4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 

of Conduct.    
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS 

 
5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 

applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 
plan and other material planning considerations. 

 

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 

protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 

Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer. 
 
5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 

effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 
including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 

material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 
Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all opportunities to 

promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or where 
adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the 

planning merits of the development proposal.   
 
5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on 

relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 

designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 

Page 5



applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 

matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports. 
 

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations 
 

6.1    The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 

have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 
consideration to their comments. 

 
6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 

home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 

considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 
Development Plan, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 

that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 

interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 
public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 

proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 

Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 
 

Background Papers 
      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 

this agenda will include:- 
 1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include: 
 

 i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates. 

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application 

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties. 

iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 
and of relevance to the submitted proposal 

  
 2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 

application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal 

 
 3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 

on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting). 
 

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents 

 
For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background 
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 

Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU Telephone (01706) 

924305 or via the online planning services at: http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning 
 

Page 6



Application Number: 14/01420/FUL    Ward: North Heywood       
 

 
Proposal: Residential development for the erection of 43 dwellings and associated 
works. 
 

Site Address: Land Bound By Cherwell Avenue/Bank Top Street/ George Street 
Heywood OL10 4SE   
 

Applicant: Countryside Properties 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



UPDATE 
 
The application will be considered by the Heywood Township Planning Sub Committee on 11th 
May 2015 and the comments of that Committee will be reported to the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee on 13th May 2015.  The application represents a departure from the 
Development Plan and is therefore referred to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee for 
determination in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  A resolution to refuse 
the application on the grounds of policy principle would be contrary to a previous decision of 
the Council.     
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The application was deferred from the Heywood Township Planning Sub Committee agenda in 
March for further consideration in relation to the following matters: 
 
Legal Status of the Footpaths Crossing the Site 
 
Legal advice has been sought regarding the status of the footpaths that run diagonally across 
the north-western part of the site. These paths are not defined public rights of way. However, 
they are identified as unadopted highways and a formal stopping up or diversion under section 
247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 will be necessary.  Statutory publicity of the 
application has been undertaken by way of a site notice displayed at the site and a press 
notice in the Heywood Advertiser. A resolution is therefore also sought from Committee for the 
closing up of these footpaths, should it be minded to grant planning permission. 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
Clarification has been sought from United Utilities regarding the status of their final 
consultation response. They have confirmed that they would have no objections to the 
proposed development, subject to conditions including a restriction on the amount of surface 
water entering into the combined sewerage system of 6 litres/second. Further information has 
also been received showing the detailed design, and construction of the flood risk / surface 
water drainage attenuation measures. The Council’s Drainage Officer has also confirmed that 
the proposed foul and surface water drainage system and on site surface water storage facility 
would be acceptable.  
 
Heywood Bonfire 
 
The Council’s Environmental Management Team have not raised objections to the proposals 
and note that should the development come forward.  The fact that a site has a temporary use 
on it is not a valid planning reason for the refusal of this planning application.  In the event the 
Council needed to consider alternative sites, a report detailing options and recommendations 
for an alternative event in Heywood could subsequently be brought to members of Heywood 
Township Committee and Cabinet. 
 
Letting, Management and Occupancy of the Private Rented Dwellings 
 
Following requests, further information has been received from the applicant regarding the 
type of tenure and management arrangements and funding for the proposed private rented 
dwellings. The private rented sector is growing at both national and local levels; Census 
figures for 2011 showed, at a national level, that there had been a significant increase in the 
number of households living in the private rented sector from 13.8% in 2001 to 18.1% in 2011, 
this represents a rise of 31.2% in the 10 year period between the two census survey’s. The 
sector is predicted to grow to 20-25% by 2020 (and even further thereafter). Within Rochdale 
the private rented sector in Rochdale accounted for 8.8% of all tenures in 2001, this figure 
grew by 5.8% to 14.6% in 2011. 

Page 8



 
The selection of property types on the sites has been guided by data on occupancy patterns in 
the private rented sector. The new homes will be targeted at economically active young 
couples and aspiring families who opt to lease their property but are not reliant on any 
subsidies to meet payment of their rent. The submitted documentation confirms that to ensure 
that the property is “affordable” to the client, no property will be let unless they meet the 
appropriate financial checks and can demonstrate both security of income and the ability to 
pay without hardship. 
 
The applicant has also submitted additional information detailing the letting arrangements and 
management of the proposed private rented dwellings. The dwellings would be let and 
managed by Direct lettings, who will use referencing agencies and estate agencies to carry 
out letting, referencing, monitoring and the maintenance of the dwellings and gardens and 
ensuring properties meet health and safety requirements and statutory compliance 
procedures. 

In terms of funding, Countryside Properties are working in partnership with the Sigma Capital 
Group PLC to deliver the new homes at George Street and Nile Street in Rochdale. The two 
companies are also working together to deliver a portfolio of approximately 2,000 new homes 
for private rent in the Greater Manchester and Merseyside regions. Funding for these new 
homes is being provided through an equity finance arrangement secured by Sigma. 

SITE 
 
The application relates to a circa 0.96Ha site roughly rectangular in shape bounded by 
Cherwell Avenue and Peel Street to the west, Bank Top Street to the north, two storey terraced 
dwellings to the south and by open space to the east.  
 
In February 2013, the Council published a Development Brief for the wider George Street area 
bounded by George Street, Bank Top Street and Cherwell Avenue/Peel Street.  This was 
endorsed for public consultation by the Heywood Township Committee on 5th November 2012.  
Heywood Township Committee approved the publication of the final Development Brief on 4th 
March 2013.   
 
The site is located within a residential area of Heywood located to the north of Heywood Town 
Centre and characterised by a mix of house types including traditional Victorian dwellings, 
inter-war suburban dwellings and more recent post-war infill residential developments.  
Heywood Sports Village is located to the northeast and the Roch Valley and its associated 
recreational routes and open space are located to the northwest. 
 
The site currently comprises a relatively flat area of open space predominantly comprising 
grassland with a collection of deciduous trees in the southeast corner of the site. Land levels 
gradually slope downwards moving east from Cherwell Avenue and Peel Street in the southern 
part of the site with a gentle grassed mound towards the centre of the site. The majority of the 
site is allocated as recreational open space within the Rochdale UDP and the Roch Valley 
Greenspace Corridor lies to the north of the site.  More recently the site was considered within 
the Council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) undertaken in 2014 for 
its suitability for accommodating housing (reference SH0769) and identifies it as a brownfield 
site capable of delivering 30 dwellings in 1–5 years. 
 
A collection of three storey apartment buildings and two storey terraced dwellings face the site 
to the north and east with intervening areas of flat open space between these and the 
application site. Two storey terraced dwellings and communal garden space are located 
immediately to the south of the site with two storey semi-detached dwellings fronting on to the 
site to the southwest and west of the site. A single storey building accommodating an adult 
training centre is located to the northwest of the site beyond landscaped open grounds. The 

Page 9



Derby Street Children’s’ Day nursery is located just beyond residential dwellings to the west of 
the site. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of 43 no. two storey detached and semi-
detached dwellings and associated access, parking, and landscaping on land bounded by 
Cherwell Avenue, Peel Street and Bank Top Street, Heywood. The proposed scheme would 
comprise 13 no. two bedroom dwellings and 30 no. three bedroom dwellings each with 
associated private amenity space and private parking.  
 
The proposals comprise four different house types incorporating a mix of pitched and hipped 
roofs and each faced with a mixture of red brick, lighter blend of brick and white render to the 
external elevations. The proposed dwellings would be laid out to form a perimeter block with 
dwellings largely fronting on to the existing and proposed roads. The north, south and east 
perimeters of the site would predominantly be bordered by a mix of open side and front 
gardens and parking areas with metal railings and shrub and tree planting defining the site 
perimeters. A mixture of 1.8 metre high brick walls and timber fences would separate the side 
and rear private gardens of the proposed dwellings. The southern perimeter of the site 
bordering the access lane would comprise a 1.8 metre high brick wall.  
 
The site would be accessed from Bank Top Street to the north through a new road that would 
run along the east boundary of the site before returning at a right angle and connecting to an 
access on to Cherwell Avenue/Peel Street towards the southwest corner of the site. The 30 
no. three bedroom dwellings would each have 2 no. dedicated in curtilage parking spaces with 
12 of the 2no. bedroom dwellings having 1 no.in curtilage parking space, with 1no. 2 bedroom 
dwelling having 2 no. dedicated parking spaces. The proposed dwellings would be occupied 
on a private rental basis to be let and managed by a dedicated letting company. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 
The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan:  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 
H/5  Residential Density 
H/6  Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 

Page 10



H/7 Affordable Housing 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/2  Accessibility Hierarchy 
A/3  New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4  New Development – Access for Cyclists 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/2  Pollution 
EM/3  Noise and New Development 
EM/4  Contaminated Land 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/8  Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows 
 
G/G/1  Greenspace 
G/2  Standards for Recreational Open Space 
G/3  Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 
Energy and New Development SPD 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
Affordable Housing SPD 
 
SITE HISTORY 
 
04/D43027 – Erection of 17no. dwellings – Approved April 2004.   
 
01/D38931 – Erection of 17 no. dwellings and landscape improvements – Approved 
September 2001. 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - No objections. Comments as follows:  
 
The Development has provided approximately 180% parking provision. I believe this to be 
adequate parking provision for a development of this size and nature at this location and 

Page 11



should not impact upon the surrounding highway. The development is well positioned for 
public transport. The roads surrounding the development are traffic calmed. It is therefore 
necessary to amend the existing TRO to include the new road in the 20mph zone. The new 
highway should include physical traffic calming measures to match the surrounding roads. 
This development will not have a significant negative impact upon the local network capacity. 
The application proposed will not affect refuse collection from the development. Adequate 
space will be retained as part of the proposed development to store and dispose of refuse 
collection. This application will not impact upon the highways layout. No new access to the 
highway will be created by this development. Existing highways drainage will not change as a 
result of this development. The site is crossed by 2 un-adopted highways. It will be necessary 
to formally close these highways under the Town and Country Planning Act. 
 
Public Rights of Way Officer - There are no Definitive Public Rights of Ways going through the 
area of the proposed development. 
 
Ramblers Association – No objections. 
 
United Utilities (UU): - To reduce the volume of surface water draining from the site we would 
promote the use of permeable paving on all driveways and other hard-standing areas 
including footpaths and parking areas. 
 
Drainage: 
No objection to the proposal provided that the following conditions are attached to any 
approval: - 

 

• Notwithstanding any indication on the approved plans, no development approved by 
this permission shall commence until a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface 
waters for the entire site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, surface water must drain separate from 
the foul and no surface water will be permitted to discharge directly or indirectly into 
existing foul sewerage system. Any surface water draining to the public combined 
sewer must be restricted to a maximum pass forward flow of 6 l/s. The development 
shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding  

 
A public sewer crosses this site and we will not permit building over it. We will require an 
access strip width of ten metres, five metres either side of the centre line of the sewer which is 
in accordance with the minimum distances specified in the current issue of "Sewers for 
Adoption", for maintenance or replacement.  
 
Water: 
A water main and associated infrastructure crosses the site. As UU need access for operating 
and maintaining it, UU will not permit development in close proximity to the main. An access 
strip of no less than 5 metres, measuring at least 2.5 metres either side of the centre line of 
the pipe. A separate metered supply to each unit will be required at the applicant's expense 
and all internal pipe work must comply with current water supply (water fittings) regulations 
1999. 
 
Environment Agency: - Land Contamination – The report provided indicates that the site has 
been subject to previous contaminative land uses, which may be a potential source of 
contamination to Controlled Waters in the vicinity of the site. Potential sources of 
contamination on site, which were identified in the report, include former mill buildings, infilled 
reservoirs, re-profiled made ground embankments and a culverted watercourse is present on 
the site.  

Page 12



 
No objections subject to conditions requiring the submission and approval of a full site 
investigation report including risk assessment; implementation of any necessary remediation 
measures and site verification report, and measures to be put in place should contamination 
be found during construction. Recommend various informative for developer regarding land 
contamination, waste management and disposal of contaminated material. 
 
Groundwater - The application should consider the hydrogeology of the area, if impacts are 
identified mitigation methods must be put in place. We would expect that any planning 
application submitted should include a scheme for disposal of foul and surface water including 
a foul and surface water drainage plan to be submitted to us in relation to the site. There 
should be no infiltration of surface water on contaminated land or any discharge of any 
contaminated water to ground. 
 
RBC Drainage Officer/Lead Local Flood Authority: - No objections to proposed development 
and the submitted drainage scheme. The drainage is discharging into the UU Sewer, and UU 
have raised no objections subject to conditions restricting flow rate. The proposed attenuation 
is not adopted so there is nothing to consent as the LLFA. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer: - The submitted Site Investigation reports and proposed 
remediation strategy are acceptable. No objections subject to condition requiring the 
submission and approval of a verification report confirming implementation of remediation 
measures if necessary. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise): - This section has no objection in principle to this application 
but would ask that if permission is to be granted that consideration is given to conditions 
requiring; • The hours of construction are restricted to 08:00am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday; 
9.00am to 2.00pm on Saturdays. No work on Sundays. 
 
Green Infrastructure Officer (Arboriculturalist): - No objections; eleven individual trees and two 
small groups are proposed for removal as part of this proposal.  The majority of these trees 
are damaged, diseased or poorly formed.  Only three of these trees proposed for removal are 
of moderate quality, but they are not suitable for protection with a TPO.   
 
The landscape plan proposes to plant 36 trees within the development along with other low 
level landscape planting, so there should be an increase in tree numbers within the 
development boundary.   
 
I would want to see some street trees planted along Cherwell Avenue and Bank Top Street, 
adjacent to the development and along the proposed access road to soften the visual impact 
of the new development and increase canopy cover to compensate for the likely increase in 
the urban heat island effect.  
 
I would also want to see fencing erected to protect the two sycamore trees on Bank Top Street 
(as referred to in the arboricultural report as T1 and T2) during construction of the 
development.  As the importance of these remaining semi-mature specimens will increase 
after the loss of those referred to above. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - The application site is dominated by species-poor amenity 
grassland of low ecological quality. The site is not designated for its nature conservation value 
and has only low potential to support any specially protected species. Therefore no overall 
objections to the scheme on nature conservation grounds. 
 
However there is a small area of broad-leaved woodland in the south east part of the site that 
will be lost to the scheme. Although I would accept that the woodland is not of substantive 
nature conservation value it is of some site-based ecological value. Compensation for tree 

Page 13



loss has been offered in the landscaping plan that includes new standard tree planting, 
although this planting is rather limited in scope.  
 
Recommend – 

• That trees to be retained are properly protected during the course of the scheme 

• That no trees are removed during the optimum period for bird nesting (March to July 
inclusive) and 

• That the Landscaping Plan put forward as part of the application is implemented in full 
 
Natural England – No objections with regards to statutory nature conservation sites. The 
proposal should be assessed against the standing advice with regards to impact on protected 
species. The site is not located within proximity to any nationally designated landscape areas. 
Biodiversity enhancements should be sought as part of the development. The LPA should 
satisfy itself that it has sufficient information on the impact of the proposal on any local sites of 
wildlife, nature or geological interest. 
 
Design for Security: - No comments received to date. 
 
RBC Property and Facilities Management- The planting for the development is acceptable, 
with a significant amount of tree planting to help soften the appearance of the buildings and 
parking. It is noted that there is little tree planting on the east side facing the new road 
because of the way leave for the culvert. I would stress the importance of monitoring the site 
landscaping closely to make sure it all goes in as shown on the plans and that service runs are 
planned to avoid tree planting positions.   
 
The development will occupy about half the existing open space bounded by Cherwell 
Avenue, Bank Top St and George St. Although it is for the most part featureless, it is a 
significant open area and it does have tree groups, some of which would be lost to this 
development.  What would be left is a much reduced grass area with more overlooking from 
the new houses. Its value is therefore reduced as a community resource. To mitigate this I 
would suggest that the open space is improved by additional tree planting around the 

boundaries and with new paths crossing it.  

 
RBC Environmental Management 
 
The area of land in question is currently maintained in terms of grass cutting and litter (and fly 
tipping) removal by Environmental Management. The land has also been used for the past few 
years as the site of one of our three municipal bonfire and firework displays (with associated 
fairground amusements and food concessions). 
 
Environmental Management have no issue with the proposals set out in the planning 
application. 
 
There would need to be a decision made on the future viability, format and location of the 
municipal bonfire / firework display if the land was sold by the Council. If this was the case, 
then a report on recommendations and options would be made by Environmental 
Management to either Cabinet or Heywood Township Committee as appropriate.  
 
RBC Operational Services – The site is the location for the annual Heywood Bonfire, 
Fireworks and Fayre.  
 
Any Public Open Space financial contributions, secured in accordance with relevant Council 
adopted planning policies, could be spent at any of the following locations; 
 

• Queens Park-      Improvements to toddler site to rear of café 

Page 14



• Queens Park-      Fencing to BMX track at the bottom of the park 

• Springfield St/Wham Bar Street-  Redevelopment of existing 2-7 year old play area 
 
RBC Strategic Housing: - The private rented sector is growing at both national and local 
levels; Census figures for 2011 showed, at a national level, that there had been a significant 
increase in the number of households living in the private rented sector from 13.8% in 2001 to 
18.1% in 2011, this represents a rise of 31.2% in the 10 year period between the two census 
survey’s. The sector is predicted to grow to 20-25% by 2020 (and even further thereafter). At 
a local level the private rented sector in Rochdale accounted for 8.8% of all tenures in 2001, 
this figure grew by 5.8% to 14.6% in 2011.   
The proposed scheme at George Street will link into a key priority in borough’s current 
Housing Strategy which is “Supporting Development that meets economic needs”. Under this 
priority are several goals, please see list below, which the scheme will help deliver; 
 
Make Rochdale a borough of choice;   
Maximise the economic value of housing investment; 
Increase the number homes built across the borough year on year; 
Wider choice – offer of homes for all; 
Increase the number of family sized homes and affordable homes; 
 
Private Rented Market Study in Rochdale MBC  

This study was published in April 2013 and showed an increasing demand in the borough for 
homes in the private rented sector. This trend has been supported by an increasing level of 
homes for private rent coming onto the market. Between 2009 and 2012 a total of 7,943 
additional private rented came onto the market. 

There is limited choice in the private rented market for families wanting larger properties. Two 
bed properties currently dominate the market and represent 50.4% of all properties brought to 
the market since 2009 and 3 beds account for 29.3% of all properties. The new homes 
proposed for the George Street site include a significant number of 3 bedroom homes and 
these will help boost the limited supply of larger family accommodation in the private rented 
sector. 

 
RBC Strategic Planning: - The general form and layout of the development is acceptable given 
that it broadly reflects Option 2 of the adopted development brief (February 2013) covering this 
site and wider area.  The proposed layout of the development and land take-up allows for the 
maintenance of the green link through the wider site from the neighbouring Roch Valley 
corridor.  It is important that this link and green corridor is retained. 
 
Approximately two thirds of the proposed development is on open space which is allocated 
under policy G/3 of the Unitary Development Plan ‘Protection of existing recreational open 
space’.  The policy sets out several criteria which, if satisfied, may make the development of 
such open space acceptable.  These include that ‘Alternative provision is made of at least the 
equivalent quantity and quality of recreational open space, in a satisfactory location and taking 
account of local environmental and traffic considerations’ or that ‘The development funds 
improvement to existing outdoor sports facilities within the site or on another site, 
commensurate with the open space being lost’.   
 
The applicant considers that as the development site is immediately adjacent to alternative 
open space and because provision in the surrounding area is sufficient, that this requirement 
for open space provision should not be considered necessary.  This is not the case and 
financial contributions towards off-site mitigation for the loss of protected open space, outdoor 
sports provision and ongoing maintenance of open space and facilities would be required in 
order that the scheme complies with the Council’s relevant policy. 

Page 15



 
Placing the road over the existing river culvert is understood to be considered acceptable by 
United Utilities as part of pre planning consultation due to the culvert being of an appropriate 
depth and because it has been replaced fairly recently.  
 
There are issues relating to surface water drainage on the site, which falls within the Heywood 
Critical Drainage Area.  The local area has a history of flood issues and these are thought to 
be related to the capacity of the combined sewer that runs under the east side of the site.   
  
An agreement between the applicant and United Utilities ascertaining how both surface water 
and foul drainage will be dealt with must be made.  United Utilities have requested that no 
approved development shall commence until a scheme for the disposal of both foul and 
surface water for the entire site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and the matter is fundamental to the acceptability or otherwise of the 
development proposal. This is not a matter that can be adequately dealt with by condition and 
the Local Authority cannot approve a development scheme until this matter is resolved.  The 
Flood Risk Assessment submitted as part of this application needs to be up to date and 
representative of United Utilities’ opinion on these matters ensuring that the residual risk for 
development of this nature is adequately covered. 
 
If necessary to resolve the surface water issue the development of a Sustainable Drainage 
System (SUDS) should be considered for this site as highlighted in the ‘George Street 
Development Brief (Final) February 2013’. However it is noted that a SUDS proposal will 
require further consideration around the issue of land take/design and long term liability. Full 
details of any such scheme must be provided and approved at initial planning stage and not 
left as a matter for conditions.  The comments and subsequent approval of any drainage 
system through the Lead Local Flood Authority should also be sought. 
 
The local area has historic and recurring issues with the capacity of drainage systems in 
Heywood around the Pilsworth Road area and the installation of a SUDS on the George Street 
won’t add to these existing problems depending on the nature of it. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The comments in relation to the need to provide mitigation for the loss of open space at the 
site by way of off-site contributions are discussed in further detail below, and it is noted that 
the applicants have submitted a report setting out the development viability of the proposed 
scheme which concludes that it is not viable for the scheme to provide financial contributions 
towards open space and sports provision.  
 
With regards to the comments relating to drainage it is noted that a detailed foul and surface 
water drainage scheme has been submitted for consideration and that the Council as Local 
Lead Flood Authority have raised no objections to the proposed detailed drainage scheme. In 
addition, it is noted that the Flood Risk Assessment has been updated to reflect United 
Utilities’ position in allowing an amount of surface water to enter the combined sewerage 
system.  The above drainage issues have therefore been resolved.   
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, a departure and affects a 
public right of way notices have also been posted on the site and in the local press. A total of 
20 separate letters of objection have been submitted in objection to the application, in addition 
to a petition with 150 separate signatures. The points of objection, and the officer responses, 
are summarised as follows: 
 

Page 16



Objection: 
The site is an important community asset to the local area and local people and holds various 
events including the annual Heywood. The area is well used though out the year by people to 
walk their dogs, for picnics and by children to play, and for sledging in winter, and is some of 
the last remaining open space left in the local area. 
 
Officer Response: 
The comments regarding its value are noted and the implications of the loss of the recreational 
open space at the site are discussed in more detail below. However, it is noted that there is a 
significant amount and a variety of open space within the surrounding area, including the 
retained open space immediately to the north and east, the recreational routes and open 
spaces of the Roch Valley within close proximity to the north, the children’s playing facilities at 
Queens Park and junction of Springifeld Street / Wham Bar Street, and the sports pitches and 
facilities at the Heywood Sports Village to the east. These are located within close proximity to 
this area and it is therefore considered that there would adequate remaining space within the 
immediate surrounding area for the variety of activities undertaken on the site to continue to 
take place. With respect to the annual bonfire, the Council’s Environmental Management 
Team have not raised objections to the proposals and note that details of an alternative 
location of event could be brought forward in a subsequent report to members of Heywood 
Township Committee. 
 
Objection: 
The proposals would result in the loss of open space and significant number of trees which are 
home to various species of birds and bats throughout the year including Thrushes. 
 
Officer Response: 
The ecological, aesthetic quality and health of the trees on the site have been considered by 
the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit and the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer who 
consider the trees and land not to be of substantial nature conservation value and have raised 
no objections to the proposed development subject to conditions requiring replacement 
planting, preventing clearance in the bird nesting season and protection measures of trees to 
be retained. It is also noted that the site suffers from fly tipping and does not benefit from any 
formal landscape designation and is not considered to be of significant landscape value. The 
application has also been supported by a Tree Survey undertaken by a suitably qualified 
practice. This concludes that trees on site are largely of low to moderate quality and 
furthermore whilst it is noted that 11 trees would be lost, it is proposed that 36 trees would be 
planted as part of a replacement planting scheme. The planting of the replacement trees 
would be secured by way of a condition on a grant of planning permission. 
 
Objection: 
There are other more appropriate vacant brownfield sites in the local area to develop rather 
than one the last remaining green spaces in Heywood, including plots on the Back of the 
Moss, Primary School on Bamford Road, at Claybank Street and the Old Squash Courts. 
 
Officer Response: 
It is noted that there are other sites within the Heywood area that maybe suitable for 
residential development, however this application can only be considered on its own merits 
and the application before the Council is for the development of this site for residential 
development. Whilst there maybe other brownfield sites within Heywood, this would not 
preclude the application site being brought forward for development. Following a number of 
appeal decisions, the Council has had to allow greenfield sites within the Borough to come 
forward for residential development. In this instance the application site is considered to be 
within a sustainable location within the urban area having access to a variety of retail, 
business, health, community and recreation facilities within Heywood. The site has also been 
the subject of a wider development brief adopted by the Council for the George Street area 
(George Street Development Brief, February 2013). This was endorsed by Members of the 

Page 17



Heywood Delegated Sub-Committee on 18 September 2012 and the Heywood Township 
Committee on 5th November 2012. The application is in line with option 2 of this development 
brief. 
 
Objection: 

Heywood is already subject to traffic congestion and the proposals would result in additional 
traffic congestion on the surrounding network and result in the loss of parking for existing 
residents. 
 
Officer Response: 
The parking and highway safety implications of the proposed development are discussed in 
more detail in the section below. However, it is noted that the application has been supported 
by a Transport Statement that concludes that the proposed development would generate the 
equivalent of an additional vehicular trip every 2 minutes on the surrounding highways 
network. The proposed scheme includes a ratio of 1.8 parking spaces per dwelling which is 
considered adequate and in accordance with the Council’s parking standards. It is noted that 
the Highways Authority have raised no objections to the proposed scheme and it is not 
considered that the proposed additional number of dwellings would cause significant harm to 
the safety and function of the surrounding highways. 
 
Objection: 
The proposals would result in disturbance to the surrounding residents including the elderly. 
 
Officer Response: 
The noise, disturbance and odour and dust implications on neighbouring residents as a result 
of construction of the development are noted. In order to ensure that there is no disturbance 
caused beyond standard working hours a condition has been recommended restricting the 
hours of construction. It is also noted that the control of nuisance from noise and odour is also 
controlled under separate legislation beyond the planning system. 
 
Objection: 
The type of housing appears to be an experimental type of Council housing which is not 
needed and would harm the character of the area. 
 
Officer Response:  
The proposed scheme is for a 100% market housing to be to be rented privately. It is intended 
that the properties would be let and managed through Direct Lettings Limited an established 
lettings and management company in the private rented sector. The draft Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (October 2014) identifies a need for this type of housing and highlights 
that the private rented sector makes up only 14.3% of the housing stock in Heywood.  
 
Objection: 
The surrounding area has been subject of flooding in the past in 2004 and 2006 and the 
proposed development would prevent the natural drainage of rainwater through the site which 
acts as a soakaway for the surrounding area.  
 
Officer Response:  
The previous flooding events and existing capacity issues within the surrounding drainage 
network are noted and indeed the site lies within a critical drainage area. A flood risk 
assessment has therefore been submitted with the application and following requests from 
officers the applicants have submitted an amended foul and surface water drainage scheme. 
This proposes an on site storage facility for surface water and a network of surface water 
drains and control flow mechanisms to restrict flows of surface water into the combined 
sewers to the maximum limit set by United Utilities (of 6l/s). The Councils Drainage Team 
consider the proposals to manage foul and surface water to be acceptable. It is also noted that 

Page 18



the Environment Agency and United Utilities have raised no objections to the proposals 
subject to the provision of an approved drainage scheme. 
 
Objection: 
The Council has sought to push through the proposal without proper consultation with the 
public on the planning application.  
 
Officer Response:  
The application was publicised in accordance with the Councils Code of Practice for the 
Publicity of Applications. The planning application was publicised by notices placed in the 
Heywood Advertiser, by letter to 76 separate properties, and by three site notices displayed 
around the site (on Bank Top Street, Cherwell Avenue and Peel Street). Publication was also 
undertaken during the consideration and development of the adopted George Street 
Development Brief, February 2013. 
 
Objection 
There has been previous land contamination and obstacles in the ground from previous uses 
which will require a full land contamination report and investigation. 
 
Officer Response:  
The potential for ground contamination and sub-surface obstacles, structures from historic 
uses of the site and the presence of sewerage and watercourses running through the site are 
noted and further discussion of this is set out below. The application has been supported by 
phase 1 and 2 Site Investigation Report and the submission of a Remediation and Enabling 
Works Strategy. These have been reviewed and considered acceptable by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Department and the Environment Agency. A condition is recommended 
should planning permission granted securing the approval of a verification report confirming 
the completion of the approved remediation and enabling works. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Development and Contribution towards Housing Supply 
 
Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The National Planning Policy Framework 

adopted in 2012 (NPPF) is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 

legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development.  Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development 

involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic 

environment, as well as in people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to): 

• making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages; 

• moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature; 

• replacing poor design with better design; 

• improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and 

• widening the choice of high quality homes.  
 

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for decision making, the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development means: 

• Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay; and 

• Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out‑of‑date, 

granting permission unless: 

Page 19



- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; 

or 

- specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 

 

The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to “boost significantly the supply of housing” in 

order to “provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements with an 

additional buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and 

competition in the market for land. Where there has been a record of persistent under delivery 

of housing, local planning authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved forward from 

later in the plan period) to provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to 

ensure choice and competition in the market for land” (paragraph 47).   

 

The deficiencies in the Council’s housing land supply have been highlighted in a number of 
recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate that included allowing development of 

an area of Protected Open Land at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074). 
At present, the Council is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land (even 
without the 5 or 20 per cent buffer) and resultantly, the release of several windfall sites on 
greenfield land has been permitted.  In allowing appeals relating to development on sites at 
Trub Farm (ref APP/P4225/A/12/2185947 – paragraph 28) and Broad Lane (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2184755 – paragraphs 22, 28 and 30), Inspectors have concluded as 
follows:  
 

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified 
need for market and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the 
Framework this weighs substantially in favour of the proposal. 

• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seeks 
to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, 
have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing, and are therefore effectively out-of-date. 

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the 
land supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the 
accrued shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly 
not challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it 
cannot demonstrate a five year supply. 

• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the 
five year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is 
manifestly out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is 
undoubtedly engaged. 

 

In this case, the site is located within an existing residential area of Heywood and falls within 
the Defined Urban Area within the UDP. The land is characterised by open grassland and 
designated as recreational space.  Whilst the site historically accommodated buildings and a 
reservoir and has historically been previously developed land, no remains of buildings exist 
and the site would therefore constitute greenfield land for the purpose of the definition in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF.  
 

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF is clear that “…Relevant policies for the supply of housing should 

not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year 

supply of deliverable housing sites”. In this context, Policy H/3 of the UDP, which seeks to 

prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, is out of date 

and can be afforded little weight in the determination of this application. 

Page 20



 
In light of the above, the application falls to be assessed against paragraph 14 of the NPPF, 
which sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development and states that where 
policies are out of date, permission should be granted unless where any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 
the policies in the framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the NPPF indicate 
development should be restricted. 
 
Having regard to the above, the site is located within an existing residential area and urban 
area of Heywood, within walking distance of Derby Street Nursery Unit adjacent to the site, 7 
primary schools within 1 km of the site, the Heywood Sports Village, the open space and 
recreational routes of the Roch Valley and the various leisure, health and retail facilities within 
the town centre to the south. The proposed development is therefore considered to be within a 
sustainable location.   
 
With regards to housing type, size and tenure, the proposed scheme comprises the provision 
43 no. 2 and 3 bedroom houses each with their own private amenity space and parking. In 
terms of density the proposals at approximately 40 dwellings per hectare would provide an 
appropriate type of housing between the denser layout of traditional terraced dwellings and 
lower density inter-war suburban dwellings that are located in the immediate surrounding area.   
 
As part of the evidence base for the Core Strategy the Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
dated 2010 identified a need for 2 and 4 bedroom dwellings within the Borough and for the 
diversification of housing stock through the provision of intermediate type housing. The draft 
SHMA of October 2014 further demonstrates a need for family housing and limited need for 
further affordable housing within the local area of Heywood. It is considered that the provision 
of 100% market 2 and 3 bedroom housing would respond to the needs within the Heywood 
area. All of the proposed dwellings would be rented on the open market and would be let and 
managed by dedicated lettings and management company, thereby offering an alternative to 
owner occupation or affordable housing. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would be 
of significant value to the local community in helping to provide a more balanced mix of 
housing types, size and tenure within the local area. The proposed scheme is therefore 
considered to be sympathetic to the housing typology and land use characteristics of the 
surrounding area.   
 
Given the government’s desire to provide a more flexible supply of housing land; the sites 
location within a sustainable location, with access to surrounding education, retail, leisure, 
community infrastructure and open space; that the development would make a valuable 
contribution to the supply of housing in the borough in accordance with the objectives of the 
NPPF; and would directly respond to housing needs in the local area, it is considered that the 
principle and form of proposed residential development would be acceptable and would 
comply with the NPPF. 
 
Loss of Recreational Open Space and Community Use 
 
Policy G3 of the UDP seeks to protect recreational open space unless the proposed 
development of the site would provide for community use or recreational area, or recreational 
facility and would not result in a deficiency of open space; or alternative provision of equivalent 
quantity and quality is provided as part of the development; or the development funds 
improvements to open space and outdoor sports facilities to a level commensurate with the 
level of loss. 
 
As noted above, the site is allocated within the UDP as recreational open space. It is also 
noted that all the five objections received from surrounding residents highlight the importance 
of the open space to the local community for informal recreational use and for more formal 
community events throughout the year. With respect to policy G3, it is noted that the site 

Page 21



provides space for the annual Heywood Bonfire and Fireworks event and is used regularly by 
local residents and children for a variety of informal play and recreational activities and is 
therefore of value to the local community.  
 
The proposed development would not accord with either of the four exceptions set out in 
policy G3 that would allow for redevelopment of recreational open space. However, it is noted 
that since the allocation of the site as recreational space within the UDP, the Council has 
published and adopted a Development Brief (February 2013) for the wider George Street area 
bounded by George Street, Bank Top Street and Cherwell Avenue/Peel Street. This sought to 
bring forward a comprehensive mixed use scheme providing housing, business space and 
open space in the wider area including the land the subject of this application.  The planning 
application forms part of this suggested development and is in accordance with the terms of 
the adopted Development Brief.   
 
It is also noted that the application site was recently considered as part of the search for 
available housing sites (SHLAA) and was considered a suitable site for housing development. 
It is noted that a large proportion of the open space within the area would be retained and it is 
noted that the surrounding residential area benefits from access to the recreational routes and 
open green space of the Roch Valley immediately to the north of the site. More formal sport 
and recreation facilities are within walking distance to the northeast at Heywood Sports 
Village, and it is noted that there are children’s play areas at Queens Park and at Springfield 
Street/Wham Bar Street that offer more formalised play space for children. 
 
Furthermore, with regards to important local events such as the annual Heywood Bonfire, it is 
noted that the Council’s Environmental Management team consider that there are other 
options for holding an annual event elsewhere within Heywood, and note that the site currently 
acts as a focus for fly tipping before and after the event. Indeed as the owner of the site and a 
number of other sites in Heywood.  The fact that the application sites has been used for this 
purpose is not in itself a reason for refusal in this case and, notwithstanding any decision 
reached on this planning application, the decision to relocate the bonfire would require a 
separate decision to be made by the Council.   
 
It is considered that due to its size, shape and its undulating topography, the land is not of 
significant formal sport and recreational value. It is also noted that the site was historically 
developed prior to the site being cleared and laid out for the purpose of recreational open 
space comprising largely of open grass of average landscape value. With regards to its value 
to nature conservation, the site is adjoined by roads on three sides and has limited shrub and 
tree coverage that does not provide a rich habitat for flora and fauna and as noted by GMEU, 
the site is of limited nature conservation value. 
 
Having regard to the above, whilst the proposal would represent a departure from policy G3, it 
is noted that in this particular instance there is a large amount of open space in the immediate 
vicinity of the site that offers space for a variety of recreational and leisure activities for the 
local community. In addition, the proposed development would deliver wider regenerative 
benefits of bringing forward high quality new homes in a sustainable location. Further 
discussion of the economic, social and environmental considerations and the overall balance 
are discussed in more detail elsewhere in this report. 
 
Amenity of Future Occupants and Surrounding Residents 
 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings and one of the 12 core planning principles of 
the NPPF is to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings.   
 

Page 22



In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. 
 
It is noted that the site is located within a predominantly residential area of Heywood 
comprising predominantly two storey residential properties and bordered by open space to the 
north and east. The proposals would comprise modest two storey detached and semi-
detached houses laid out in a perimeter block fronting on to the Cherwell Avenue and Peel 
Street to the west, and Bank Top Street to the north and the open space to the east. The 
nature of the proposed residential development would therefore be compatible with the 
surrounding uses, and the scale and character of the area. The proposed two storey dwellings 
would be sited in excess of 50 metres from the facing dwellings to the north, and would be in 
excess of 100 metres from facing dwellings to the east on George Street. 
 
The proposed two storey dwellings at plot nos. 35 and 36 at the southern end of the site would 
be laid out to face east and west with their side gable ends being located between 14 - 15 
metres from the side gable ends of nos. 26 Peel Street and 17 Smethurst Street. Their siting 
to the side and separation of 14-15 metres from the side of these dwellings would ensure that 
they would not cause any significant loss of light, outlook or daylight to these dwellings. 
 
With regards to the impact on those dwellings to the west of the site, it is noted that a distance 
of approximately 19 metres would be retained to the side gable of no. 6 Arlen Way. A distance 
of approximately 23 metres would be retained between the front of nos. 2 and 4 Arlen Way 
and the side and front of plot nos. 1 and 32 respectively. A distance of approximately 20 
meters would be retained between the frontage of no. 13 Peel Street and the side gable of plot 
no. 1. The frontage of plots 34 and 35 would retain a distance of in excess of 25 metres to the 
side of no. 11 Peel Street. These distances would accord with the minimum separation 
distances set out in the SPG which seek to ensure development does not cause unacceptable 
harm to residential amenity.  
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development, by virtue of its 
size, massing, layout, orientation, scale, height and separation with surrounding buildings, 
would have no undue impact on the amenity of surrounding occupiers through overlooking, 
overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss of daylight.  
 
With regards to the amenity of future occupants of the proposed development, it is noted that 
the layout of the proposed dwellings would ensure that each dwelling would benefit from an 
area of private outdoor amenity space to the rear with the main outlook being provided to the 
front and rear of the dwellings. The internal layout of each dwelling provides adequately sized 
rooms with each habitable room providing sufficient natural daylight and ventilation for the 
future occupants. In addition, the majority of the proposed dwellings on site would accord with 
the minimum separation distances set out in the above SPG.  
 
Whilst it is noted that plot nos. 1, 2, 21 and 22 have a sub-standard separation distance of 9 -
10 metres to the side gable of the two storey dwellings to the rear well below the minimum of 
14 metres, it is noted that plots 1 and 22 have their main outlook and habitable room windows 
facing out to the adjacent street frontage along Cherwell Avenue and Peel Street and on this 
basis, it is considered to be acceptable in this case.   
 
In order to ensure that the private rear amenity space of 1, 2, 5, 6, 21, 22 33, 43, 38, and 39 
are not overlooked by first floor habitable room windows in adjacent plots a condition has been 
recommended requiring the side facing first floor windows in the adjacent plots contain 
obscurely glazed windows to be fixed shut. 
 

Page 23



With regards to the impact on surrounding residential properties during the construction phase 
of the development, it is considered that subject to conditions restricting hours of construction 
work, the proposed construction phase of development would not cause significant over-riding 
harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents.  
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Department have raised no objections to the proposed 
development subject to a condition limiting hours of construction. A condition has been 
recommended as such to ensure there would be no over-riding disturbance to future 
occupants by way of noise and disturbance experienced during construction of the proposed 
development.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development would be compatible with surrounding uses, both in 
terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of 
future residents, and would be in accordance with UDP policy BE/2, the objectives of the SPG 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF. 
 
Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area 
 
The NPPF promotes high quality design and states that the Government attaches great 
importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 
places better for people (paragraph 56).   
 
Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design 
by: 

• Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

• Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout. 

• Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 

• Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property. 
 
Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide. 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

• will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

• establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

• respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

• create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 

 
The application site is located within a suburban area of Heywood characterised by a variety 
of more traditional two storey terraced dwellings, inter-war semi-detached dwellings and more 
recent post-war dwellings providing for a townscape of varying building styles, materials and 
sizes. The site sits within an open part of the surrounding townscape itself comprising 
relatively flat and open grassed land and surrounded by further open grassland to the north, 
east and northwest, and by wooded areas to the southeast. 
 

Page 24



The proposed development would itself result in the loss of part of an area of open green 
space within an otherwise open part of the urban townscape. Given that the site is 
characterised by simple grassed undulating area with a limited cluster of deciduous broad 
leaved trees in the southeastern corner, the site is not considered to be of significant 
landscape value. 
 
The surrounding built form is of relatively mixed density and there are a variety of building 
types, size, heights, materials and designs. The proposed dwellings would be of relatively 
traditional form and design, incorporating a variety of roof designs, and varying ridgelines to 
create interest within the streetscene. 
 
The proposed built form seeks to provide a strong block layout with the main frontages and 
entrances facing on to the existing streets to the north and west, and on to the newly created 
street to the east. The front entrances are denoted by porch details with those corner plots 
retaining openings to ensure they address each streetscene. The use of openings with 
horizontal emphasis and a predominance of brick within the external elevations with areas of 
white render to the first floor would provide sufficient interest whilst picking up on detailing of 
the dwellings in the surrounding area. 
 
Each dwelling would be set behind open landscaped front and side gardens comprising a mix 
of driveways, lawned areas, with formal beds of shrub planting and tree planting denoting the 
edges of each property. A combination of this planting and metal railings that run along the 
perimeter of the properties would provide defensible space for the dwellings. Each of the 
proposed dwellings would have safe and convenient access to the rear private gardens for the 
storage of waste bins. 
 
It is considered that the height, scale, layout, design, landscaping and materials of the 
proposed development would be compatible with the prevailing character and grain of streets 
and housing in the surrounding area and the overall appearance and precedents within the 
immediate street scene. The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy BE/2, and the NPPF. 
 
Access and Highway Safety Implications: 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
Traffic Generation/Highway Network Capacity 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 
 

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

c) Substantially increase congestion; 
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 
 
In addition, UDP policy BE/2 (g) requires proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access 
and circulation, which is also required by paragraph 58 of the NPPF.   
 

Page 25



The proposed scheme comprises 43 no. two and three bedroom dwellings, which it is noted 
would generate additional traffic and vehicular movements within the local area.  A Transport 
Note submitted with the application highlights that using TRICS data, the proposals would 
result in an additional 24 two way trips in the morning peak and 25 in the afternoon/evening 
peak periods. Given that this net increase in traffic would be equivalent to a further vehicle 
every 2 minutes, it is not considered that there would be any over-riding harm to the 
surrounding highway capacity. In addition, it is noted that the surrounding road network 
comprises residential streets of sufficient width to accommodate the respective additional 
vehicular traffic and which are subject to traffic calming measures ensuring vehicles travel at 
sufficiently low speeds.  
 
Furthermore, given the sites proximity to the town centre of Heywood and the various facilities 
within it, including local schools and recreational facilities within the surrounding area, it is 
envisaged that a number of trips would be made on cycle or on foot limiting the need for 
vehicular trips. It is also noted from the submitted Transport Note that there would be access 
to approximately 13 bus services per hour within 400 metres of the site which would provide 
access to Rochdale and Manchester centres in a journey time of 19 to 40 minutes 
respectively. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that the site is in a sustainable location and the traffic generated by 
the development can safely be accommodated on the surrounding road network in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8 and A/9 and the NPPF.   
 
Access: 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 

 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and 

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
The proposed scheme proposes two new road junctions, one along Bank Top Street and one 
along Cherwell Avenue and Peel Street in order to link the new road to the surrounding 
network. Both junctions would be located along straight sections and affording clear visibility 
along the carriageway and footpaths either side. Subject to conditions securing a scheme of 
traffic calming measures on the new proposed road, it is considered that this would provide for 
safe traffic movement. The proposed parking spaces have been laid out in curtilage of each 
dwelling with direct access from the carriageway. Given the existing traffic calming measures 
and residential nature of surrounding streets and similar nature of access arrangements in the 
surrounding area this is considered appropriate to the road hierarchy. Safe, clear and 
convenient pedestrian access would be provided to the front or side of each of the dwellings 
either by individual entrances or communal access points linking into the footpath network. 
 

Page 26



It is noted that the dwellings would be sited adjacent to or within close proximity to the existing 
road network or new road that wraps around the site. As a result it is considered that each of 
the proposed dwellings would be accessible by emergency vehicles, and refuse services. The 
proposed scheme also provides space for clear and convenient pedestrian and cycle routes 
emphasising the existing routes along the highways and along the new roads and overall it is 
considered that the proposal would accord with accessibility hierarchy in policy A/2 of the 
UDP. 
 
Parking: 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.” The policy states that car parking 
provision at less than the maximum standard will be accepted subject to an assessment of the 
following criteria: 

a) The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of providing 
parking provision within that location; 

b) Access to other transport modes; 
c) The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking; 
d) The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to accommodate 

parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; and 
e) The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-street 

parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal shift away 
from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures. 

 
The proposed scheme makes provision for each of the two bedroom houses to have at least a 
single parking space with each of the proposed three bedroom dwellings incorporating 2 no. 
parking spaces. Each of these spaces would be within the curtilage of the dwelling providing 
safe and convenient parking for future residents. The combined ratio of 1.8 parking spaces per 
dwelling is considered appropriate by the Highways Authority and would accord with the 
maximum parking standards which requires 2 parking spaces per dwelling. 
 
It is also noted that the site sits within a sustainable location within walking distance to variety 
of retail, leisure, community and health facilities and services within Heywood Town Centre to 
the south which would limit the need for residents to make trips by private motor-vehicle.  
 
Rights of Way/Footpaths: 
 
The proposed development would not impact on any defined public rights of way but as noted 
above, the two footpaths are unadopted highways that run diagonally across the north-western 
part of the site would need to be closed up or diverted through the newly created routes 
through the site. Given that the proposed layout provides for a new route east to west and 
north to south through the site along a footpath either side of the new carriageway, it is 
considered that the integrity of the routes would be maintained and the proposal would accord 
with policy A/3 of the UDP. 
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would make 
satisfactory arrangements for vehicle access, manoeuvring and parking, and would facilitate 
safe and convenient circulation for pedestrians to and from the site. The scheme is not 
considered to have an adverse impact on highway safety and would not generate a level of 
additional traffic which would have a detrimental impact on the safe and efficient operation of 
the immediate local highway network, or strategic routes. The Highway Authority has raised no 

Page 27



objections to the proposed development subject to conditions. The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8, A/9, A/10, H/3 and BE/2, and the 
NPPF. 
 
Impact on Trees and Landscape Features 
 
UDP policy NE/7 states that: 

• No work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly affect the health 
of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper written 
authority of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or 
other works which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above 
ground. Any works carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice.  

 
In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure: 

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows; 

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts 
on the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., 
root spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered; 

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction; 

• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and 
woodland (which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and 

• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year 
period. 

 
The application site comprises a rectangular soft landscaped piece of land including a group of 
broadleaved trees located in the southeast corner of the site. As part of the proposed scheme 
it is noted that 11 no. trees would be removed to facilitate the development. The Arboricultural 
Survey submitted with the application concludes that these trees are of moderate to low 
amenity value and are predominantly classified as being of low quality with limited 
conservation and cultural value. It is also noted that the trees are not protected and as such, 
consent would not otherwise be required for their removal. In any case, it is noted that the 
proposed scheme includes a comprehensive landscaping and planting scheme including the 
planting of 36 no. new trees along with a variety of low levels shrubs. 
 
The Council’s Arboricultural Officer notes that the majority of the 11 trees to be lost are either 
damaged, diseased, or poorly formed and are not worthy of protection. No objections are 
therefore raised to the proposed development subject to conditions securing the protection of 
the sycamore trees to be retained. Therefore, in principle it is not considered that the loss of 
trees would result in significant harm by way of loss of an important landscape feature and 
through the provision of 36 no. replacement trees it is considered that there would be a 
significant gain in the quantity and spread of trees on the site as a result of the proposed 
development. 
 
Therefore, satisfactory evidence has been provided in order to justify the level of tree loss 
proposed and more than adequate replacement tree planting would be provided within the 
proposed development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8. 
As recommended by the Council’s Green infrastructure officer and the submitted Arboricultural 
Report, a condition has been recommended requiring the submission and approval of tree 
protection measures to protect those tress adjacent to the site that would be retained.  
 
Ecological and Nature Conservation Implications: 
 

Page 28



The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures. 
 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 
 

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through 
locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, 
as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas which are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 
seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type 
of development permitted may be required.  
 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
UDP policy NE/8 (d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure the nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species. 
 
The land does not form part of any statutorily designated nature conservation site and nor is it 
designated as of local ecological importance. It is however recognised that the open grass 
land and the coverage of deciduous trees on the site affords some opportunities for local 
wildlife. Therefore, the main ecological impact in this case relates to the loss of vegetation as a 
result of tree removal. The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) have been consulted on 
the application and have raised no objection on nature conservation grounds. It is noted that 
the habitats on site have only low potential to support any specially protected species and 
have raised no objections to the scheme on nature conservation grounds. 
 
Instead, GMEU consider that any impacts occurring as a result of tree removal could be 
adequately controlled through planning conditions requiring: (1) safeguarding measures to be 
implemented in order to ensure that trees to be retained as part of the development are 
adequately protected during the course of development; (2) inspection of mature specimens in 
order to establish their potential to support protected species (including bats) prior to any 
development taking place and preparation of an appropriate mitigation strategy if required, and 
(3) the implementation of the replacement tree planting scheme.  
 

Page 29



Accordingly, conditions have been recommended regarding the timing of tree clearance works 
in order to avoid the main bird nesting season. Subject to these conditions, it is considered 
that adequate mitigation would be provided on site and satisfactory precautionary measures 
can be put in place to ensure that the development would not adversely affect the limited 
nature conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation status of any protected 
species. The proposed development is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage Implications: 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”. 
 
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 
 

• It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

• It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

• Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

• Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

• Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

• It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

• Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at 
the developer’s expense. 

 
The site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 1000 
or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the application site 
lies within the Heywood Critical Drainage Area as identified in the Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment. Accordingly the application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).  
 
The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. However, it is noted that 
surrounding area has historically suffered from flooding issues relating to the capacity of the 
public sewer network. Furthermore, it is noted that the proposed development would result in a 
substantial increase in the proportion of impermeable areas at the site.  
 
The FRA provides details of a potential drainage strategy for the development in order to limit 
the rate of surface water run-off from the site to below pre-development (greenfield) rates of 
7.6 l/s. As a result of ground conditions, discharging surface water into a watercourse would 
not be feasible and the FRA recommends discharging up to 6 l/s into the combined sewer that 
runs through the site. It is noted that United Utilities have agreed to this amount of water 
discharge to the combined sewer. 
 
Consultation with the Council as Local Lead Flood Authority has sought to develop an 
appropriate sustainable urban drainage system to satisfactorily manage surface water flows 
and provide mechanisms to discharge the remaining surface water at the site. It is proposed 
that foul and surface water would be drained on a separate system with a hydro-brake at the 
point of discharge limiting a maximum of 6 l/s of surface water draining into the combined 
sewer. It is proposed that the remaining surface water run off that would occur in a 1 in 100 
year event (also allowing for 30% increase due to climate change) would drain through the 
surface water drains into a subsurface 37m3 aqua cell storage facility located below the shared 
driveway to plots 36, 37 and 38 in the south eastern end. Full details of the proposed foul and 

Page 30



surface water drainage system including its design and the mechanisms for controlling flow 
into the aqua cells and provision for emptying the system, have been submitted and are 
considered by the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority to be acceptable 
 
A condition has been recommended requiring the submission and approval of a maintenance 
plan setting out how the surface water attenuation scheme will be managed in the long term 
and setting the maximum restriction of flow into the public combined sewer to 6 l/s and that 
foul and surface water should drain separately in order to accord with the condition 
requirements requested by United Utilities. 
 
It is also noted that the Environment Agency and United Utilities have raised no objections to 
the proposed development. It is also noted that the proposed layout would allow sufficient 
easement above the combined sewer that runs north to south along the eastern boundary of 
the site. Therefore, it is considered that subject to conditions and the implementation of the 
approved drainage strategy, adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that 
the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either on the site itself or 
elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the policies within 
the NPPF. 
 
Land Contamination: 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to, and enhance 
the natural and local environment by remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, 
contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate. 
 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner. 
 
Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that: 

• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, 
pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation;  

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined 
as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented. 

 
In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect 
that land which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, 
the Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed 
remedial treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in 
accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions. 
 
The site is located within an existing urban area historically characterised by potential 
contaminative uses and it is noted that there may well be the remnants of a variety of 
structures below the surface.  
 
The application has been supported by a phase 1 and phase 2 Geo-Environmental Report that 
identifies that there are significant sub-surface features including resulting from basements 
associated with historical residential dwellings, reservoirs and a culvert that would require a 
combination of shallow strip foundations supported by Vibro Stone Columns, standard strip 

Page 31



foundations and a small number of piled foundations. Monitoring of ground gas identified this 
to be a low risk, whilst the risk assessment highlighted concentrated levels of potential 
contaminants in the made ground. As a result it recommends the implementation of a detailed 
Remediation and Enabling Works Strategy and Materials Management Plan (MMP) be 
developed in accordance with the (EA Approved) CL:AIRE CoP and a  Materials Management 
Plan to appropriately manage use and disposal of waste from the site. 
 
The applicant has also submitted a detailed report setting out a method statement for 
remediation measures and enabling works at the site before development takes place. These 
include, earthworks to cut and fill the land, excavation and management of contaminated 
materials, provision of 600mm covering system and installation of gas protection measures. 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied with the proposed remediation strategy 
and has raised no objections subject to the receipt of validation of the approved remediation 
measures.  
 

Subject to a condition securing the submission, and approval of a verification report confirming 
the necessary remediation measures have been undertaken, it is considered that the proposal 
would comply with UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF.    
 
Sustainable Construction and Renewable Energy: 
 
UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include: 
 

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development; 

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve 
energy through the ongoing use of the development; and 

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies. 

 
The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 
2020. However, the SPD was adopted before the NPPF and the weight it can be afforded in 
decision making has therefore reduced as a result.  The NPPF requires that local 
requirements are consistent with national standards and the SPG requires over and above 
national standards at the current time.   
 
In current economic circumstances, it is considered that the cost implications of achieving 
Level 4 would have significant viability implications for many developments and as set out in 
the Viability Report submitted in support of the application the profit level of 6.7% is already 
below the 10% minimum considered necessary for such a proposed development. As a result, 
there is no scope for implementing further technologies and energy saving techniques to 
achieve code level 3. Whilst some energy saving technologies are proposed to be included 
within the proposed scheme it is not possible to guarantee the dwellings would achieve code 
level 3 and that the development would meet the full requirements of the Council’s SPD 
“Energy and New Development”. In this instance it is noted that the above forms policy 
guidance only and due the severe viability pressures on the site that preclude achieving the 
above levels, the further costs imposed by the above requirements would stifle the 

Page 32



development coming forward and prevent the wider benefits from the proposed scheme 
discussed elsewhere in the report being realised. 
 
Financial Obligations Towards Recreational Open Space and Affordable Housing: 
 
A scheme of the size proposed would require financial contributions towards affordable 
housing off-site and towards recreational open space in accordance with UDP policies H/6 and 
H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: Provision of Recreational Open 
Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  
 
These contributions would need to be secured through a planning obligation in accordance 
with the provisions of S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act. Paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following 
tests (reiterated in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations): 
 

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

• directly related to the development; and  

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how it meets these 
tests) are outlined below: 
 
Recreational Open Space: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare per 1000 
population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the case of 
developments involving less than 100 bedrooms this provision is to be met through a financial 
contribution towards the laying out (including 20 year maintenance maintenance) and/or 
improvement of recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-site recreational open 
space are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a development 
and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the occupation of the new 
houses. 
 
As the development is for 43 dwellings an off-site contribution would be applicable in this case 
in accordance with UDP policy H/6 and its accompanying SPD as follows: 
 

• For developments under 100 bedrooms (and in lieu of on-site provision of local 
open space): number of bedrooms/1000 x 2.1 = [provision in hectares] x 10,000 
[square metre conversion] x current cost per square metre for laying out and 20 
year maintenance of open space + 4% administration fee. 

 
Affordable Housing 
 
UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. 
 
Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below: 
 

Page 33



 
 
Development Viability 
 
A supporting residential viability report has been submitted by the applicants, which concludes 
that even without the payment of financial contributions towards affordable housing and open 
space and outdoor sports provision the proposed scheme would make only 6.7% profit, which 
is below the minimum of 10% necessary to make such a scheme financially viable. Indeed, the 
payment of financial contributions would result in a development achieving a 3.63% loss. 
Therefore, in this instance the applicants do not propose to provide a financial contribution 
towards off-site open space and sports provision and towards off-site affordable housing 
provision because the proposed scheme would not be financially viable whilst providing such 
financial contributions. This report has been reviewed by the Councils Surveyors who have 
confirmed that the submitted information and conclusions are sufficiently detailed and 
reasonable.  
 
In this instance it is noted that 100% of the proposed accommodation is to be private rented 
and therefore unlikely to secure revenue from sales in the short-term. In addition, it is noted 
that the development of the site is subject to a significant level of abnormal costs derived from 
the existing ground conditions of the site including contamination, sub-surface structures, a BT 
main running through the site, a public sewer running through the site. It is also noted that 
substantial sustainable urban drainage systems as noted above are to be incorporated into the 
scheme in order to manage surface water appropriately. 
 
It is noted that paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that “to ensure viability, the costs of any 
requirement to be applied to a development, such as requirements for affordable housing, 
standards, infrastructure contributions or other contributions, should, when taking into account 
the normal costs of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land 
owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable.” 
 
In this instance it is noted that the target of 10% profit to enable the development to be 
delivered and the estimated level of profit that would actually be achieved of 6.7% are not 
unreasonable profit margins. In addition, it is also noted that the profit levels sought for such a 
private rented scheme are roughly half of that would be expected for a scheme comprising for 
open market sale. The applicants also highlight that the scheme being unviable is based on 
the nominal value of the land and that there would have to be significant changes to scheme 
viability and market conditions for a profit level that would allow for financial contributions to be 
achieved. In addition, that there is unlikely to be any significant change in the viability position 
in the short to medium term. 
 
Therefore, whilst the scheme would be unviable whilst providing for financial contributions 
towards open space and sports provision and affordable housing, the proposed scheme of 
private rented dwellings would respond to the housing needs in the Heywood area. In order to 
retain this form of tenure at the site, it is noted that there is a clause within the land agreement 
between the Council and the developer that these dwellings shall be occupied on a private 
rental basis. Therefore, should the tenure change to open market sale and the land value 
accordingly inflate, a proportion of the additional value could be secured and respectively put 
towards the provision of affordable housing off-site and towards the provision and 
maintenance of open space and outdoor sports provision. In addition, whilst it would not be 
possible to secure financial contributions, it is noted that there are measures in place that 

Page 34



would secure the provision of dwellings of tenure to address housing needs in the local area 
whilst not stifling the delivery of development, in accordance with paragraph 205 of the NPPF. 
 
Benefits 
 
It is noted that the presumption in favour of sustainable development is a golden thread 
running through the NPPF and pursuing sustainable development involves seeking positive 
improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment. The applicant has 
submitted a report highlighting that the proposed development would sustain 75 on-site 
construction jobs, with a further 113 jobs being supported off-site in construction related 
industries. In addition, future residents could be expected to spend approximately £290,000 
per annum in the local area helping to support local businesses and services and sustain local 
jobs. This is anticipated to be equivalent to the creation of 3 direct jobs. Additionally the 
Council would potentially benefit from £300,000 per year over a 6 year period through the 
Governments New Homes Bonus Scheme, with additional Council tax equating to 
approximately £310,000 over a 6 year period. 
 
With regards to the social aspect of sustainable development, it is noted that the proposals 
would respond to housing needs within the local area providing new private market sector 
family sized homes, and provide for a more balanced housing market in the local area. In 
terms of environmental gains, it is noted that the scheme proposes the provision of a net 
increase of 25 no. trees to be planted on the site in addition to those proposed to replace 
those felled, in addition to lower level shrub planting offering for an improved variety of 
habitats for wildlife on the site. 
 
Conclusions and Balancing Exercise 
 
Having regard to the above matters, it is noted that whilst the proposed scheme would result in 
the loss of an area of recreational open space, it would provide a significant number of new 
homes within the existing urban area in a highly accessible and sustainable location and of a 
tenure where there is a need within the Borough. The proposed development would provide a 
sympathetically designed scheme that would not result in any demonstrable harm to the 
amenity of neighbouring residents, highway safety, nor to any protected or priority species and 
sites of nature conservation or landscape value. Subject to conditions, it is considered that 
adequate measures would be implemented to manage surface water and to prevent any 
increased risk of flooding elsewhere. Furthermore, subject to an agreement securing the 
occupation of the dwellings for private rent, the proposal would address local housing demand, 
whilst providing 43 new homes and associated economic and regenerative benefits through 
direct and indirect job creation and additional spending within the local economy, which would 
otherwise be unviable and would not take place.  The benefits of the proposal demonstrably 
outweigh the loss of the recreational open space and it is therefore considered that the 
proposal comprises sustainable development and accords with policies G/D/1, A2, A3, A4, A8, 
A9, BE/2, BE/8, H/1, H/5, H7, NE/3, NE/4, NE/8, EM/2, EM/3, EM/4, EM/7, EM/8, EM/9, 
EM/13 of the UDP and the National Planning Policy Framework.  Accordingly, it is 
recommended that planning permission is granted for the proposed development and for the 
closure of the unadopted highways crossing the site.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Members authorise the stopping up of the highways under section 247 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and GRANT permission subject to the following 
conditions:- 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
   

Page 35



 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following approved plans:  
   
 Location Plan – SK-312-LP-01;  
 Topographical Survey – SK213-TOPO-01;  
 Planning Layout – SK312-PL-01 Rev C;  
 External Works Plan – 40-12 Rev P4;  
 Private Attenuation System - Drwg no. 40-16 Rev P1;  
 Adoptable Drainage Layout - Drwg no. 40-01 Rev P5;  
 Flow Control Chamber detail - Drwg no. 40-09 Rev P2;  
 Road and Sewer Longsections - Drwg no. 40-02 Rev P2;  
 Wavin Intensio Aquacell - Technical Guidance dated May 2009;  
 Landscaping Scheme – DFD/CABTR/L1 – Rev A;  
 Proposed Streetscenes – SK312-SS-01 Rev B;  
 Sales Area Garage Details – WWGS-(SIG10)-S01-6.1 Rev A;  
 Hooped Top Metal Railings – NSD-9202;  
 Fence Types A to D – NSD 9102;  
 Wall Types – NSD 9001;  
 The Weaver Floor Plans – WEAV-01;  
 The Weaver FCT Elevations – WEAV-6.0-SEMI-FCT;  
 The weaver Elevations – WEAV-6.0-DET;  
 The Grantham/Weaver Ground Floor Plans – GRWE-01;  
 The Grantham Weaver First Floor Plans – GRWE-02;  
 Grantham & Weaver – GRWE-6.1SEMI(ALT);  
 Grantham & Weaver – GRWE-6.1SEMI;  
 The Ellesmere Floor Plans – ELLE-01;  
 The Ellesmere Elevations – ELLE-6.0-SEMI(A);  
 The Wallbrook Floor Plans – WALB-01 Rev A;  
 The Wallbrook Elevations – WALB-6.0-3MEWS(A);  
 The Wallbrook Elevations – WALB-6.0-SEMI;  
 Proposed Materials - reference 14/01420/FUL – Land bound by Cherwell Avenue, 

Bank Top Street, George Street – Erection of 43 dwellings’ received 4th March 2015;
  

 Materials Schedule – SK312MS;  
 Tree Survey plan – 45188p1r0/007 – Issue 01;  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings (insofar as it relates to the matters of layout, access and scale).  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, to define the extent of the development site and 

to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance with the policies 
contained within the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 3 The development shall take place in full accordance with the recommendations and 
remediation measures set out in sections 3.0, 4.0, 5.0. 6.0 and 7.0 of the approved  
Remediation and Enabling Works Strategy, prepared by E3P, titled 'Land adjacent 
George Street, Heywood, Lancashire, OL10 4PY', reference E3P Report: 10-487-R1, 
dated January 2015.  

                                             
 The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until, a verification report 

confirming that the necessary remediation measures have been completed has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   

Page 36



 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.                

 
 4 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in full accordance with the 

approved foul and surface water drainage scheme set out in the following approved 
drawings and specification:  

   
 Private Attenuation System - Drwg no. 40-16 Rev P1;  
 Adoptable Drainage Layout - Drwg no. 40-01 Rev P5;  
 Flow Control Chamber detail - Drwg no. 40-09 Rev P2;  
 Road and Sewer Longsections - Drwg no. 40-02 Rev P2;  
 Wavin Intensio Aquacell - Technical Guidance dated May 2009.  
   
 Surface water must drain separately from the foul and no surface water will be 

permitted to discharge directly or indirectly into existing foul sewerage system. Any 
surface water draining to the public combined sewer must be restricted to a maximum 
pass forward flow of 6 l/s.   

   
 The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the foul and surface water 

drainage scheme has been completed in full accordance with the approved details, 
and the details of maintenance submitted on 24th April 2015. The system shall 
thereafter be retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  

   
 Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and to 

ensure satisfactory disposal of foul and surface water from the site in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7 and EM/8, the Council’s 
Level 2 SFRA User Guide and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 5 Unless alternative details have first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, the development shall be constructed in accordance with the 
materials detailed in the schedule indicated in the Proposed Materials document, 
reference 14/01420/FUL – Land bound by Cherwell Avenue, Bank Top Street, George 
Street – Erection of 43 dwellings’ received 4th March 2015.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 

character of surrounding buildings and the street scene in the interests of visual 
amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies 
BE/2 and H/3. 

 
 6 No above ground works shall take place until a detailed scheme for the design and 

construction of the following have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority;   
i. The new estate road for its entirety from its junction with Bank Top Street to the 

north and Peel Street / Cherwell Avenue to the west and including the shared 
access drive in the south east corner of the site.  

ii. a self-enforcing 20mph zone along the whole of the new estate road and if 
necessary any Traffic Regulation Order(s) have been made and implemented. 

   
 The duly approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented before the final dwelling to 

be served by the new estate road is first occupied.  
   
 Reason: To ensure adequate traffic calming measures are introduced as part of the 

development in order to reduce the potential for traffic conflicts and to mitigate the 
impact of on-street parking in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in 

Page 37



accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies A/3, A/8, A/9 
and BE/2. 

 
 7 The new estate road and dwellings shall not be brought into use unless and until;  
    

i. The footpaths and carriageways along the south side of Bank Top Street and 
the east side of Peel Street / Cherwell Avenue have been resurfaced and 
dropped crossings provided in accordance with details of their design, 
construction and surfacing that has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

ii. any remnant adopted highway or rights of way crossing the application site 
have been stopped up.  

   
 Reason: In order to secure necessary improvements to the highway network to ensure 

safe and convenient access and circulation for vehicle traffic in the interests of highway 
and pedestrian safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development 
Plan policies A/3, A/8, A/9 and A/10. 

 
 8 The approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out within 6 months of a 

dwellinghouse first being occupied or the next available planting season (whichever is 
sooner) and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas 
thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming 
seriously diseased within three years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of 
similar size and species to those originally required to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping and to ensure adequate 

parking and access arrangements for the dwellinghouse in the interests of visual 
amenity and highway safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8, H/3, H/4, A/9 and A/10. 

 
 9 The finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be completed in 

accordance with the approved drawing titled External Works, no. 40-12 Rev P4 dated 
Dec 14.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between buildings both within 

and surrounding the site and to ensure that the development would not be at an 
unacceptable risk of flooding in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2, EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
10 Before each dwelling hereby approved is first occupied a scheme for the design and 

construction (including surface treatment) of its associated parking areas shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking 
areas shall be constructed in accordance with the duly approved scheme before each 
associated dwelling is first occupied, and retained thereafter for the parking of vehicles. 

   
 Reason: In order to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked clear 

of the highway and to ensure appropriate surface treatment of parking areas in the 
interests of highway safety, drainage and visual amenity in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and A/10, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 

development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 

Page 38



nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for protecting nest 
sites during the course of the development has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site protection shall thereafter be provided 
in accordance with the duly approved methodology.  

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 

Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
12 No development shall take place until the tree protection measures including protective 

fencing (both above and below ground) have been implemented to protect the 
Sycamore and cherry trees to the northeast and south of the site (identified as T1, T2, 
T16 and G15 on the Tree Survey plan reference 1965_01, dated 21/11/14), in 
accordance with the tree protection measures specified in Appendices 3, 4 and 5 of the 
submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment report, titled Land Adjacent to George 
Street, Heywood, dated December 2014 (prepared by Appletons), and to British 
Standard 5837: Trees in Relation to Design, Construction and Development 
Recommendations. The protection measures implemented shall be retained 
throughout the construction period.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 

safeguard trees to be retained as part of the development (both within an outside the 
site) in the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure satisfactory landscaping 
in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies NE/8 and 
BE/8. 

 
13 The first floor windows serving either bedroom or bathrooms in the north facing side 

gable elevations of the dwellings on plot nos. 23, 34 and 37, and south facing side 
gable elevation of the dwellings on plot nos. 7, 32 shall be non-opening, except where 
the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor 
of the room in which the window is installed, and obscurely glazed to a minimum of 
level 3 on the Pilkington Scale (where 1 is the lowest and 5 the greatest level of 
obscurity) before the dwelling is first occupied, and retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard the privacy of future residents and to minimise the 

potential for overlooking of neighbouring dwellings and their garden areas in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy H/3. 

 
14 No site preparation, delivery of materials or construction works, other than quiet 

internal building operations such as plastering and electrical installation, shall take 
place other than between 07:30 hours and 18:00 hours Monday-Friday and between 
08:30 hours and 14:00 hours on Saturdays.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of occupiers of surrounding properties 

during the course of construction of the development and to limit the potential for 
unacceptable noise and disturbance at unsocial hours in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3. 

 
 
 
Report Author Chris Hobson 
 
 
  ________________________________________________________ 
  

Page 39


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	3 Planning Application

